1952

State of Utah v. Don Jesse Neal : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

An information charging Don Jesse Neal with the crime of murder in the first degree was filed on June 23, 1951 (R. 10). A motion to dismiss the information charging defendant with first degree murder was filed on October 15, 1951, alleging as grounds for dismissal of the information that the State failed to prove on the preliminary hearing that the crime charged in such information was a willful, deliberate, malicious, and premeditated killing. The motion was, by the court, overruled (R. 17) and a plea of not guilty entered by the defendant and the case came on for trial on October 2, 1951.

The Jury was duly impanelled and sworn to try the case (R. 33) and the State proceeded to offer testimony in support of the charges of first degree murder as alleged in the information. Such testimony disclosed that on the 23rd day of May, 1951, at about two o'clock P.M. the defendant, Wilma Lenoma Tully and Officer Owen T. Farley were proceeding north on the east side of State Street immediately north of the intersection of Third South Street in Salt Lake City, Salt Lake County, Utah, in a DeSoto sedan automobile driven by Owen T. Farley, the defendant and Wilma Lenoma Tully having been taken into custody by Officer Farley a few moments before at or near the east entrance on State Street to Auerbach's Department Store. As the automobile proceeded north on State Street and across the intersection at Third South and immediately in front of No. 261 South State Street at which place the automobile collided with a parked automobile and immediately prior to such collision a shot was heard. Officer Farley was found lying on the street. Wilma Lenoma Tully left the scene by the right hand door of the automobile and was later apprehended at Wendover, Utah. The defendant left the automobile from the opposite side and was later apprehended several blocks from the scene. Officer Farley was removed to the hospital and died several hours later.

Dr. Milton Pepper testified that he attended and examined Officer Farley upon his arrival at Holy Cross Hospital on May 23, 1951; that he found a penetrating wound of the abdomen to the right of the navel and an

exit wound in the back to the left of the middle just above the hip and from such wound Officer Farley died about 3:45 P.M., May 23, 1951 (R. 36-37). Dr. John Marshall, Assistant City Physician, testified that he performed an autopsy on the body of Officer Farley May 25, 1951, and in his opinion the officer died from excessive loss of blood; that he found a perforating wound in the abdomen measuring 1½" in diameter, the point of entry being 2" above the navel and 1" to the right of the middle line, the point of exit 2" to the left of the middle line at the level of the second lumbar vertebra; that in his opinion the missile that entered Officer Farley's body went straight through and came out the back and that the gun that fired the shot was pointed directly at Officer Farley (R. 41-43).

Officer Hunsaker testified that on May 21, 1951, the Salt Lake City Police Department received a telegram from the Chief Probation Officer of the State of California requesting that the defendant be picked up and described the automobile he was driving (R. 46). Officers Longson and Olson testified that the car described in the telegram was located early on the morning of May 23, 1951 on the west side of State Street just south of the intersection of Third South; that the automobile was watched until approximately 2 P.M. on May 23, 1951, at which time the officers were relieved by Officer Farley after having had a conversation with him near the Center Theater on Third South and State Street, at which time the car was pointed out to him. Officer Farley proceeded in the direction of the automobile shortly

thereafter and Officer Olson observed that the car had been moved. He got into his automobile and proceeded south on State Street where the automobile had been parked and observed that it had been moved. He then made a turn on State Street and started north immediately behind the DeSoto automobile driven by Officer Farley. Shortly after the car crossed the intersection of Third South and State Street it struck the parked car and immediately stopped. Officer Olson got out of his car. He heard no shots or observed any disturbance in the automobile driven by Officer Farley. He next saw Officer Farley lying on the street between two cars and heard him say, "Call the police," which were the only words uttered by Officer Farley who immediately became unconscious. (R. 63). He remained with him until the ambulance arrived.

Three witnesses produced by the State (R. 67-87) all testified in substance that they were in the close proximity of the DeSoto automobile parked on the west side of State Street at or near the entrance to Auerbach's Department Store. All observed a man and woman approach the automobile from the south and Officer Farley approach from the north; that the woman entered the car and sat down, and Officer Farley with his gun drawn approached the man and after a conversation proceeded to search his person. The search occupied from ten to fifteen minutes and they observed Officer Farley completely search the defendant from his shoes to his head, inside and outside, removing from the inside of his coat pocket certain papers. At the completion of the search

Officer Farley placed the man's hands behind him and put his handcuffs on him with his hands to his back and then assisted him into the automobile. The woman remained in the automobile throughout the entire search and had in her hands magazines, a package and a handbag and at no time did Officer Farley search the woman or engage in conversation with her. Officer Farley placed the defendant in the front seat between himself and the woman, started the automobile, made a "U" turn after backing out and proceeded north on State Street in the direction of the Police Station (R. 67-87).

Glen A. Pratt testified that shortly after 2 P.M. on May 23, 1951, he was crossing the intersection of Third South and State Street in the direction of the Center Theater and observed a DeSoto automobile proceeding north through the intersection, saw the automobile crash into a parked car after it had passed him and observed that the occupants in the automobile were struggling. He observed a woman leave the car, step over the curb and disappear into the crowd. He saw Officer Farley lying on the street with his head in the lap of a person wearing a Postman's uniform. He observed Officer Farley and did not hear him talk or speak to anyone. (R. 91) He saw a man running across the street to the west with his hands behind him and his coat over them.

Witness Joseph M. Anderson stated that he was a mail carrier; that he was in front of 261 South State Street and had just come out of the Rogerson's Music Company as the DeSoto automobile struck a parked car.

He observed that there were three occupants in the front seat of the car. The woman left the car first by the right hand door, then one of the occupants fell from the car to the street and just before the fall he heard words to the effect, "Do you want another one?" or to the effect, "If you want another one I'll give you one more." (R. 98-99). The witness lifted the head of Officer Farley into his arms and while holding him Officer Farley stated, "I am a police officer." "He shot me." "Call the Department." No one else was assisting Officer Farley and the witness did not see Officer Olson. He was standing on the sidewalk and did not get out into the street until the woman had left and Officer Farley was out of the car (R. 108). He heard the statements made while standing on the sidewalk 18 or 20 feet away and 3 feet from the door of Rogerson's Music Company. There was a string of automobiles parked along the street between the witness and the DeSoto car and at the preliminary hearing he testified that he was 24 feet away from the car when he heard the utterances testified to (R. 110). Robert H. Jensen, Sr., Postman, testified that he was in Rogerson's Music Store and heard two cars hit together, and immediately stepped outside and observed a scuffle in the automobile. He saw the right door of the car open and a man come out head first rolling partly under a parked car. There were three occupants in the car. The woman left the car first and proceeded north on State Street. He was about 10 feet from the car and heard the man in the car say, "Do you want another?" The man in the car got out on the west side and

ran west across State Street with his arms behind him. This he observed as he was standing near the curb and on the sidewalk and was never in the street.

Wilma Lenoma Tully, a witness called by the State testified that she met the defendant in Reno, Nevada on Sunday, the 20th of May about 7 o'clock A.M. She had not known him before and they decided to come to Salt Lake City where they arrived on Monday the 21st day of May, and registered at a motel and on Tuesday, May 22, they both went to Ogden where she purchased some shells for a gun at the request of the defendant. They spent most of the day in and around Ogden and decided to remain there for the night, but later changed their plans and proceeded to Salt Lake City, arriving about 11 P.M. and registering at the St. George Hotel. After removing all of their belongings from the automobile which had been parked on the street, the defendant having informed the witness that they would not return to Reno in the automobile but would attempt to obtain passage on the air lines. On May 23, both spent the morning shopping and visiting various taverns in Salt Lake City. After eating lunch about 1 P.M. it was decided that they would return to Reno in the automobile and obtained a cab for the purpose of locating the same which was parked the previous night. The automobile was located on State Street south of Third South and both alighted from the cab and proceeded in the direction of the automobile. The witness got into the car on the right hand side and defendant proceeded around the front of the automobile to get in on the left hand or

driver's side. He was immediately accosted by Officer Farley who was standing near the car and questioned as to his identity. He was then searched by Officer Farley which was observed by the witness. She stated that the search was from the defendants armpits to his knees (R. 138). The defendant was then handcuffed with his hands behind him and assisted into the car sitting next to the witness. Officer Farley sat next to the defendant in the driver's seat, started the automobile and made a "U" turn and headed toward the Police Station. Some conversation took place between Officer Farley and the defendant, immediately after crossing the intersection at Third South Street it appeared to the witness that the defendant was moving closer to the officer and was locking shoulders with him (R. 139). She then heard a shot and the officer lost control of the automobile which crashed into a parked car. As soon as he lost control of the automobile and while slumped the officer called to a postman on the street requesting him to call an ambulance (R. 140). She then left the car by the right hand door and ran to the sidewalk, entered the Regis Hotel where she registered and remained there until 10 P.M. and was then driven to Wendover where she was arrested the following day.

K. Robert Tschaggeny testified that he was driving his automobile south on State Street the afternoon of May 23, 1951. He saw the automobile in which the defendant was riding and saw the defendant leave the automobile and as he passed his car he observed that the defendant was handcuffed and had a revolver in his

hands. The defendant boarded a Salt Lake City Lines bus at Third South and State Street. The witness followed the bus and at Fourth South he picked up Officer Simonson and they followed the bus to Fifth South where the defendant left the bus and disappeared. (R. 195). Officer Simonson testified that he accompanied Mr. Tschaggeny in his automobile and attempted to apprehend the defendant (R. 209). Mrs. Ronnie Charlot testified that she was sitting in her automobile at the A & W Root Beer Stand at Fifth South and State Street and the defendant approached her automobile stating, "I have a gun here lady and I'll shoot you if you don't do what I say." (R. 214). That the defendant left immediately and the witness observed that he had a gun and his hands were handcuffed behind his back. R. W. Fish testified that he was an employee of the Streater Chevrolet Company and on May 23, 1951, shortly after 2:30 P.M. he saw the defendant in the shop where he was working. His hands were handcuffed in front of him and he observed a gun in his hand and defendant threatened him (R. 220). Harry Jones testified that he found a gun in the paint shop in a sink, which gun was offered and received in evidence. (R. 224).

Officer Hunsaker identified the clothing worn by Officer Farley and the same was received in evidence (R. 233), together with the handcuffs. Officer Clark was called as a witness and demonstrated to the jury the movability of his hands after being handcuffed with his hands behind him and while sitting on a chair in

front of the jury box and in the presence of the jury (R. 237-242).

The defendant, called as a witness on his own behalf, testified that he obtained the DeSoto automobile in San Francisco, California and left San Francisco for Reno, Nevada on May 18. While in Reno he met Wilma Lenoma Tully who accompanied him to Salt Lake City where they arrived on Monday, the 21st day of May, and went to Ogden arriving there about noon. While in Ogden Mrs. Tully purchased a box of shells which were the type and caliber which fit the gun owned by defendant, which gun was carried by Mrs. Tully in her handbag from the time both left Reno for Salt Lake City. Both defendant and Mrs. Tully participated in a robbery of a motel in Ogden after which they returned to Salt Lake City and registered at the St. George Hotel, leaving their automobile on State Street below Third South after removing all their clothing and belongings from such automobile. At about 2 P.M. they attempted to locate the automobile and were approaching it when the defendant was accosted by Officer Farley who placed him under arrest after searching his person and proceeded to the Police Station. The car stopped at the intersection of Third South and State and after crossing the intersection Officer Farley pushed the defendant back in the seat and reached across the defendant's lap. There was a crash and a shot and Officer Farley went out the right side of the car immediately after Mrs. Tully and the defendant went out the left side and across State Street.

He stated that at no time did he have the gun in his hands and did not shoot Officer Farley.

On cross examination over defendant's objections he testified that he had been convicted of three or four felonies, the first in 1945. He was a parole violator from the State of California, was wanted for stealing payroll checks in California (R. 290) and if he was returned to California he was going to have to serve from 5 years to life (R. 290). He had cashed and forged 47 checks stolen by him (R. 294). The defendant denied that before leaving California he had robbed Fulton's Food Shop and denied that he had committed a robbery of the Boulevard Pharmacy in California (R. 295) or robbed a grocery store in San Francisco. (R. 295)

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

I.

The court erred in refusing to recognize that the State failed to prove the commission of the crime of first degree murder, the evidence disclosing that:

(a) The verdict and judgment were contrary to law.

(b) The verdict and judgment were contrary to the evidence.

(c) The evidence was insufficient to support the verdict of the jury.

II.

The court erred in allowing the witnesses, Norman R. Cortsen and Mrs. Ronnie Charlot to testify over defendant's objections relative to statements made by the defendant after the homicide.

III.

The court erred in allowing the witness Harold W. Clark over defendant's objections, to demonstrate to the jury the movability of his hands and body with a gun in his hands handcuffed behind him.

IV.

The court erred in allowing the District Attorney, over the objection of the defendant, to interrogate the defendant relative to the commission of crimes by him which in no way were connected with the crime for which he was being tried.

V.

The court erred in allowing the District Attorney, over the objections of the defendant, to interrogate the defendant respecting the commission of crimes which the defendant had not been charged with or convicted.

VI.

The court erred in denying defendant's motion for a new trial.

VII.

The court erred in denying defendant's motion for a new trial in the absence of defendant's counsel.

VIII.

The court erred in imposing sentence on the defendant in the absence of defendant's counsel.

IX.

The court erred in denying defendant's motion for a rehearing of defendant's motion for a new trial.

X.

The court erred in denying defendant's motion for an order of examination of designated physical evidence received at the trial.

XI.

The defendant was denied the right to a fair and impartial trial.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, THERE BEING A LACK OF EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE INSTRUCTION GIVEN BY THE COURT. (Specification of Error No. I, (a) (b) (c).

At the close of the State's evidence, the defendant filed his motion to dismiss the information as to the offense of first degree murder as set out in such information, said motion being based on the grounds that the State had failed to prove that the crime charged in such information was the wilful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated act of the defendant. (R. 17) Such motion was by the court denied. (R. 18)

It is a well recognized and undisputed principle of law in this state that in order for a person to be convicted of murder in the first degree and in order to warrant an instruction defining this degree of murder, there must be some evidence which would indicate that the crime was premeditated and that at the exact time of the commission of the crime there was in the mind of the accused a specific intent to take the life of the victim. This court has consistently, in a long line of decisions, adhered to such rule and to cite the numerous decisions of this court would be of no benefit or advantage to the court. The evidence offered on behalf of the state was that the shooting occurred during a scuffle between the defendant and the deceased and there is wholly a lack of evidence that the defendant, if the shooting was done by the defendant, had any preconceived design to shoot the deceased or that there was any deliberate or premeditated design to kill.

The evidence produced on behalf of the State is wholly insufficient to support the verdict of the jury and counsel for the defendant, under their statement of

facts, have considered it necessary and essential to narrate the evidence and further to solicit the court's attention to their contention that under the evidence produced it would have been impossible for the defendant to have fired the shot that killed the deceased.

The undisputed evidence testified to by three witnesses for the state was that the defendant was thoroughly searched by the deceased before being placed in the automobile a few moments before the shot was fired, the other occupant of the car was not searched, in her hands were her purse and a package, the defendant's hands were handcuffed behind him, all three persons occupied the front seat of the automobile, one shot was fired immediately after the car crossed the intersection at 3rd South and State Streets, and the assistant city physician testified that the bullet that killed the deceased entered the body at a point two inches above the naval and one inch to the right of the middle line, the point of exit being two inches to the left of the middle line of the second lumbar vertebra.

From such evidence it cannot be disputed that the deceased was shot from the front, which act, under the circumstances, could not be done by a person with his hands handcuffed behind his back. Witnesses produced by the State testified to statements alleged to have been made by the defendant at the time of the shooting. (R. 98-99, 110.) Such statements, according to the witnesses, were heard by them while standing on the sidewalk from 10 to 20 feet away from the automobile in which the

defendant and the deceased were sitting. Such evidence should be entitled to little or no weight considering the circumstances under which such statements were alleged to have been made.

Counsel for defendant is well aware that the answer to the foregoing is that the jury believed otherwise and there is not a lack of evidence upon which their verdict could be sustained. However, we deem it worthy of attention by the court and meriting consideration in connection with error hereinafter to be called to the attention of the court.

II.

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