1952

State of Utah v. Don Jesse Neal : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S GUILT OF THE CRIME OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUBMIT TO THE JURY AND SUSTAINS THE VERDICT OF THE JURY AND THE JUDGMENT OF THE COURT.

In prosecuting this appeal appellant in Point I and in portions of Points VI and IX challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence upon which his conviction was based. Such a challenge was first made when a motion to dismiss the Information was interposed and denied. The motion was founded solely upon the claim that the State had failed to prove its case because purportedly there was no evidence that the killing was the willful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated design of the defendant. The rule applicable however when a motion to dismiss challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence was laid down by this Court in *State v. Thatcher*, 108 Utah 63, 157 P2d 258 as follows:

The rule which must be applied upon a motion to dismiss a criminal case is that all reasonable inferences

are to be taken in favor of the state, and only if the record itself reveals that no reasonable man could draw an inference of guilt therefrom is the trial court justified in taking the case from the jury.

In applying the foregoing rule in this case the trial court could properly have done only what it did do in denying the motion to dismiss.

A challenge to the legal sufficiency of the evidence was again made when an exception was taken to the giving of Instruction 11 in which the court defined the crime of murder in the first degree. The exception was taken for no other reason than that again purportedly there was no evidence to warrant any instruction defining that degree of murder. By inference and innuendo it was argued then as now, first that the defendant did not do the shooting and second that even if he did it occurred during a scuffle and so could not have been the result of a deliberate and premeditated design to kill and hence not murder in the first degree. Assuming, arguendo, that a scuffle did precede the shooting, it does not follow, as is argued by appellant, that the resulting killing could not be the result of a deliberate and premeditated design to kill and hence not murder in the first degree. There is no authority to support such a theory. Whether there is or is not a deliberate and premeditated design to kill in such a case must be determined from an analysis of all the surrounding circumstances and like all doubtful questions of issuable fact is properly a question for the jury. See *State v. Russell*, 106 Utah 116, 145 P2d 1003 and *State v. Thompson*, 110 Utah 113, 170 P2d 153. A careful analysis of all the surrounding circumstances in this case leads to the inescapable conclusion that the killing

was the wilful, deliberate, malicious and premeditated act of the defendant.

The uncontradicted evidence shows that immediately prior to the shooting the deceased was driving the defendant to the police station. While certain witnesses did testify that as the car proceeded through the Third South and State Street intersection there appeared to be some kind of a scuffle or a locking of shoulders by the defendant and the deceased or a movement by the defendant closer and closer to the deceased, the record is entirely void of any evidence indicating the slightest provocation or justification for the shooting. With cool and collected mind the defendant shot the deceased as the deceased was driving him to the police station. The surrounding circumstances pointedly reveal that the defendant, without provocation, justification or excuse, had the choice to shoot or not to shoot. Having made the choice to shoot under such circumstances any other conclusion but that the resulting killing was the deliberate and premeditated design of the defendant would be untenable.

Finally it is respectfully submitted that appellant apparently is not serious about pressing the assignments of error which challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence because at page 16 of his brief it is conceded that there is not a lack of evidence upon which the verdict of the jury can be sustained. If, as appellant concedes, the evidence does sustain the verdict, it was proper to submit the question of first degree murder to the jury in the first instance. Furthermore it necessarily follows that the judgment of the court based upon that verdict is also sustained by that same evidence.

POINT II

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE THE INCRMINATING STATEMENTS MADE BY THE DEFENDANT AFTER THE HOMICIDE.

It is urged that the trial court committed error in admitting in evidence certain incriminating statements made by the defendant shortly after the shooting and as he was fleeing from the scene. There is ~~no~~ denial that the statements were made. The sole contention is that they should not have been admitted because they were not part of the *res gestae*.

While there is nothing in the record to reveal the precise amount of time which transpired from the time of the shooting until the statements were made it could have been but a very few minutes at most. Immediately after the shooting the defendant left the DeSoto Sedan in which he and the deceased had been riding, ran across the street and boarded a bus at the intersection of Third South and State Streets. One of the incriminating statements was made as the bus approached the intersection of Fourth South and State Streets which was only one block away and the other was made at the A & W Drive Inn located only one additional block south near the intersection of Fifth South and State Streets. Under the circumstances there can be little doubt concerning the spontaneity of the utterances made by the defendant.

The determination as to what acts or utterances are admissible as part of the *res gestae* is not one which can be made by any arbitrary rule of thumb. As stated in Jones "Commentaries on Evidence," Second Edition, Sec. 1204:

It is impractical to fix, by general rule, any instant of time at which it may be said to be too late for an act or declaration to be part of the *res gestae* and so as to preclude debate and conflict of opinion in regard to this particular point. So long, however, as suspicion of fabrication is absent, and no taint of preconceived action or suggestion of design is present, the fact that there is a slight interval between the declaration and the principal transaction, and that they are not entirely synchronous, does not affect its admissibility as part of the *res gestae*.

The statements objected to in this case were made as the defendant was fleeing from the scene of the crime and attempting to perfect his escape. The circumstances under which they were made do not in the slightest degree indicate "suspicion of fabrication" or "taint of preconceived action or suggestion of design." Rather they show up very definitely as the spontaneous utterances of a fleeing felon. To deny their admissibility in this case would in effect be an attempt to "exclude everything from the *res gestae* which did not occur on the very instant of the grinding of the flesh and bones" to borrow a phrase quoted in *Peirce v. Van Dusen*, 78 Fed. 693, 24 C.C.A. 280; 69 L.R.A. 705.

It is respectfully submitted that not only could the incriminating statements of the defendant be properly admitted in evidence as part of the *res gestae* but also that they could be properly admitted as admissions by the accused. In *Warren on Homicide*, Permanent Edition, Vol. 2, page 651, the rule with reference to admissions is set forth as follows:

A statement by the defendant amounting to an admission, subsequent to the killing, is admissible to show that the defendant committed the crime . . .

In Wharton's Criminal Evidence, Tenth Edition, Sec. 622a, page 1266, the rule is stated in the following language:

. . . admissions are always admissible in evidence under an exception to the rule excluding hearsay evidence, provided such admissions are made against interest . . .

See also 20 Am. Jur. 473.

The incriminating statements made by the defendant shortly after the shooting and as he was fleeing from the scene of the homicide were properly admitted by the trial court either as part of the *res gestae* or as admissions by the accused.

POINT III

THE CROSS EXAMINATION OF THE DEFENDANT BY THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

Appellant contends that the trial court committed prejudicial error in allowing the District Attorney over objection to question the defendant about various crimes for which he had neither been accused nor convicted. This objection harks to the very nature of the admissibility of all evidence. In *State v. Scott et al.*, 111 Utah 9, (175 P2d 1016) at page 20, the court states:

The basic rule of admissibility of evidence is that all evidence having probative value — that is, that tends to prove an issue, is admissible.

This proposition is echoed in Wigmore Volume 1, Sec. 10, page 293:

The second axiom on which our law of Evidence rests is this: *All facts having rational probative value are admissible, unless some specific rule forbids.*

Certainly, a criminal act may be a fact, relevant to, and probative of an issue.

In addition one should remember a second fundamental idea as expressed by Wigmore Volume 1, Section 13, page 299:

It constantly happens that a fact which is *inadmissible for one purpose is admissible for other purposes*
* * *

And, as clarified on page 300:

In other words, *when an evidentiary fact is offered for one purpose, and becomes admissible by satisfying all the rules applicable to it in that capacity, it is not inadmissible because it does not satisfy the rules applicable to it in some other capacity and because the jury might improperly consider it in the latter capacity.*

The appellant asserts "that the commission of the offense for which a person is on trial cannot be proved by evidence that such person committed another but independent offense." Certainly there is no dispute with this proposition if it means that the prior offenses are inadmissible as evidence for the purpose of showing a disposition to commit offenses, and thence the commission of a particular wrong. Wharton's Criminal Evidence, Edition 11, Volume 1, Section 262 at page 322, states:

* * * other offenses are inadmissible when offered for the purpose of proving the crime charged, or to show that the defendant would be likely to commit the crime with which he is charged. * * *

But it is fundamentally in error to assert, as many have done, that if a party is charged with a specific crime, no evidence of the commission by him of another crime or wrong is receivable against him. As Wharton, *supra*, states in the completion of the above quoted paragraph:

* * * the evidence of other crimes is admissible to show *motive*, and, where relevant for this purpose, the admissibility is not affected by th fact that such evidence may prove other crimes. (Emphasis added).

See also Wigmore on Evidence, Volume 1, Section 217.

Wharton, Section 345, page 490, sets forth the general rule:

In certain classes of cases collateral offenses may be shown to prove the mental processes or mental attitude of the accused. This includes five different things: (1) *Motive* * * * (2) intent * * * (3) absence of accident or mistake * * * (4) identity * * * (5) a common scheme or plan * * *

State v. Scott, *supra*, adopts rule 311 of the Model Code of evidence which states:

Subject to Rule 306 [rule as to character evidence], evidence that a person committed a crime or civil wrong on a specified occasion is inadmissible as tending to prove that he committed a crime or civil wrong on another occasion if, but only if, the evidence is relevant solely as tending to prove his disposition to commit such a crime or civil wrong or to commit crimes or civil wrongs generally.

Therein, the court tracing the history of the rule (viewing it as a narrow exception to a broad rule of admissibility or as an exception to a broad rule of exclusion) states:

* * * Exceptions which are mentioned in the cited cases are: if the evidence tends to show intent or *motive*, if it indicates the offense was not due to accident or mistake, * * * (Emphasis added).

See also the comment in the Model Code of Evidence, page 196:

* * * nothing is more common than to find the unqualified assertion that if a party is charged with having committed a specified crime or civil wrong, no evidence of the commission by him of another crime or wrong is receivable against him. This is true where the series of inferences on which the relevance of the evidence depends is from the commission of the other wrong to a disposition to commit such a wrong or to commit crimes or torts generally, thence to the commission of the particular wrong. *The cases are legion, however, which admit such evidence when offered to prove motive, intent, preparation, plan or identity.* (Emphasis added.)

In State v. DeWeese, 51 Utah 515, 172 P 290, an interesting and bizarre murder case, an autobiography of the accused, listing prior crimes of which he had never been accused or convicted, was introduced and received in evidence. Defendant objected generally and the specific objection was that "proof of the other crimes not tending to prove the crime for which he was being tried only tended to prejudice him in the minds of the jury." The paper was admitted and upon defendant's motion, the judge charged the jury "that they were permitted to consider the burglaries solely upon the question of *motive*." Therein there was a thorough discussion of the authorities and the court stated in 51 Utah, page 533:

* * * None of the authorities referred to dispute the proposition that proof of other crimes, whether

similar or dissimilar, connected or unconnected, may be admitted to prove a *motive* for the specific crime for which the defendant is being tried. (Emphasis added).

The court on page 535 recognizes the danger of such evidence and states:

* * * We admit the danger of permitting evidence of other crimes than the one specifically charged against the defendant, and that such evidence should be admitted with great caution and circumspection, for the tendency to prejudice a defendant in such cases is admittedly great; but when the evidence is relevant, as in this case, to prove *motive*, as we think we have shown, then it is admissible by all of the authorities with which we are familiar. (Emphasis added).

The above quoted authorities sustain the proposition that evidence of prior criminal acts of which one has never been charged or convicted may be admissible in evidence for the limited purpose of showing motive. See also State v. Bowen, 43 Utah 111 at 114; State v. Kappas et al., 100 Utah 274, 114 P2d 205; State v. Prettyman, 113 Utah 36, 191 P2d 142; and State v. Morgan, 22 Utah 162, as having some bearing. 60 C.J.S. at page 86, in a discussion of motive, states:

* * * Motive has to do wholly with desire, and probably a motive does not operate to influence positive action unless there are facts in existence which create the motive.

Wigmore, Volume II, Section 390, page 331 and following, states:

The circumstances which might excite a desire to kill are innumerable. * * * Among the instances most

commonly offered for adjudication, the following may be noted:

* * * The expediency of preventing the *discovery of a former crime*, or of *evading an arrest* or a prosecution for it, may lead to the desire to kill.

It is commonplace that the existence of a fact may be proved in one of two ways or both; (1) through extrinsic records or testimony or (2) by eliciting from the mouth of the accused on cross-examination the existence of certain facts. A close perusal of the cross-examination by the district attorney shows an effort, not to make out accused as an habitual criminal as appellant would have you believe, but to get from the accused himself testimony as to his own past actions, his own knowledge, his own state of mind. In short, the district attorney sought to establish certain facts, from which one may reasonably infer, the *motive for murder—the desire to escape*. The whole line of cross examination was designed to show motive, and was in fact successful in establishing certain important facts from which motive could be inferred.

Q. Well, you knew that they wanted you for stealing payroll checks from the Alamo Cleaners in California, didn't you?

A. Yes (R. 290).

Q. And you said that you had stolen some Alamo Cleaners checks? (R. 294).

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You knew also, did you, at the time that you were leaving, that there would be not only that, (referring to parole violation) but there would be forty-seven counts of forgery if they saw fit to press them, didn't you? (R. 299).

A. Yes, it's one to fourteen (R. 300).

Q. What's that?

A. Term is one to fourteen on that.

Q. For one count of forgery?

A. Yes, and they usually run them c.c. since my restitution. It's not enough to do this thing about.

Q. Well, in other words, there would have been another fourteen years at least?

A. One to fourteen, yes, sir.

Q. And you were very anxious to keep away from any law enforcement officers, weren't you, when you were going to Reno?

A. Well, that's natural, yes, sir.

Questions were put concerning parole violations, tying in with the questions concerning the stealing and forging of checks.

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